Neutrophils Versus Staphylococcus aureus: A Biological Tug of War*

András N. Spaan, Bas G.J. Surewaard, Reindert Nijland, and Jos A.G. van Strijp

Department of Medical Microbiology, University Medical Center Utrecht, 3584 CX Utrecht, The Netherlands; email: A.N.Spaan@umcutrecht.nl, B.G.J.Surewaard@umcutrecht.nl, R.Nijland@umcutrecht.nl, J.vanStrijp@umcutrecht.nl

Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 2013. 67:629–50

First published online as a Review in Advance on July 3, 2013

The Annual Review of Microbiology is online at micro.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-micro-092412-155746

Copyright © 2013 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

*All authors contributed equally to this article.

Keywords

Staphylococcus aureus, neutrophil, innate immunity, immune evasion, virulence factors

Abstract

The pathogen Staphylococcus aureus is well adapted to its human host. Neutrophil-mediated killing is a crucial defense system against S. aureus; however, the pathogen has evolved many strategies to resist killing. We first describe the discrete steps of neutrophil activation and migration to the site of infection and the killing of microbes by neutrophils in general. We then highlight the different approaches utilized by S. aureus to resist the different steps of neutrophil attack. Various molecules are discussed in their evolutionary context. Most of the molecules secreted by S. aureus to combat neutrophil attacks at the site of infection show clear human specificity. Many elements of human neutrophil defenses appear redundant, and so the evasion strategies of staphylococci display redundant functions as well. All efforts by S. aureus to resist neutrophil-mediated killing stress the importance of these mechanisms in the pathophysiology of staphylococcal diseases. However, the highly human-specific nature of most host-pathogen interactions hinders the in vivo establishment of their contribution to staphylococcal pathophysiology.

Contents

INTRODUCTION
NEUTROPHILS IN INFLAMMATION
Extravasation Through the Endothelium
Opsonization
Chemotaxis, Priming, and Activation
Phagocytosis
NET Formation
Bacteria Killing by Means of Neutrophil Granules
Bacteria Killing by Reactive Oxygen Species
STAPHYLOCOCCAL NEUTROPHIL EVASION
Evading Extravasation 636
Evading Chemotaxis, Priming, and Activation
Evading Opsonization, Phagocytosis, and NET Formation
Evading Killing
Neutrophil Attack
Escape from Neutrophils
CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

INTRODUCTION

Staphylococcal microbes are well adapted to their host. Of all human pathogenic staphylococcal species, *Staphylococcus aureus* is the most frequent cause of disease, with skin and soft tissue infections the principal manifestations of disease (68). *S. aureus* is a human commensal; however, nasal carriage is associated with an increased risk of infection (116). Once infected with *S. aureus*, an individual may present a range of infections, from cellulitis, abscesses, and furuncles to bacteremia and sepsis, endocarditis, osteomyelitis, necrotizing fasciitis, and pneumonia (68). In the 1960s, methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) was identified as a nosocomial pathogen, affecting hospitalized patients with defined risk factors for acquisition (7). In the 1990s, infection of previously healthy community-dwelling individuals with MRSA was reported (109). Since then, community-acquired MRSA has rapidly emerged worldwide (113). As a result, interest in the pathophysiology of *S. aureus* has been revived. A large arsenal of *S. aureus* virulence factors, targeted at different host immune factors, has been studied. Notably, *S. aureus* effectively evades human innate immunity using virulence factors directed toward all its components (99). A great deal of these factors are directed against neutrophils or neutrophil function.

Neutrophils compose 60% of the leukocyte population present in the blood and are the most important phagocytic cells, which defend the host against acute bacterial infection. Patients with congenital neutrophil deficiencies suffer from severe infections that are often fatal (1). Diseases or disease states such as agranulocytosis, abnormality of immunoglobulins (Ig), or deficiencies of the complement system are associated with major bacterial infections. On occasion, an abnormality in neutrophil function is the underlying cause of disease. In such cases, disorders of neutrophil function (such as chronic granulomatosis disease) correlate strongly to recurrent cutaneous, periodontal, respiratory, or soft tissue bacterial infections, and in many instances *S. aureus* is the causative organism (16, 18). From such studies we can conclude that in healthy individuals neutrophil-mediated killing is the key defense system against *S. aureus*.

Indeed, as opposed to other phagocytes such as monocytes and macrophages, neutrophils are fully equipped to kill gram-positive bacteria such as staphylococci (90). This is achieved by a bombardment with reactive oxygen species (an event called metabolic burst) in combination with the armamentarium of proteases, antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), and several other enzymes (3, 17, 90). Neutrophils are therefore the most prominent cells, if not the only cells, in our immune system that effectively kill staphylococci (1). Nevertheless, staphylococci have evolved many ways to resist neutrophil-mediated killing. We first describe the sequence of events in which neutrophils travel to the site of infection and kill microbes in general. We then highlight the different strategies utilized by *S. aureus* to escape neutrophil-mediated killing.

AMP: antimicrobial peptide

NEUTROPHILS IN INFLAMMATION

Extravasation Through the Endothelium

Once hostile bacteria have successfully invaded the tissue, neutrophils leave the bloodstream and move to the site of infection. This multistep process encompasses slowing down of neutrophils on endothelial cells (i.e., rolling), firm adhesion of neutrophils, escape from the blood vessel (i.e., diapedesis), chemotactic migration, and subsequent killing of invading bacterial pathogens (**Figure 1**). To arrive at the site of entry of microorganisms, circulating phagocytes are slowed in the bloodstream in the vicinity of the infection site (115).

First, circulating phagocytes are slowed down near the site of infection. Activated endothelial cells express P-selectin and E-selectin, which interact reversibly with the glycoprotein P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1) on the neutrophil surface (75). Owing to these loosely adhesive contacts between the phagocyte and the endothelial cells, and to the shearing force of the flow of blood, the phagocytes "roll" along the vessel wall (75). The second step is complete arrest of neutrophils and firm adherence to endothelial cells. Firm adhesion depends on the interaction between $\beta 2$ integrins, such as LFA-1 and Mac-1, on the surface of phagocytes and intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) molecules on endothelial cells (30). When neutrophils roll along the endothelium, interactions with chemoattractants, cytokines, bacterial products, and selectins activate and cluster the $\beta 2$ integrins on the surface of the neutrophil, resulting in high-affinity interactions and subsequent firm adhesion and crawling of the phagocytes on the endothelial cells (22, 65).

Chemical mediators generated during inflammation induce and redistribute a number of complementary adhesion molecules present on the surface of both endothelial cells and neutrophils. A complex interaction between the receptors and ligands on both cells results in transmigration through the endothelial junction or even transcellularly through the endothelial cell (83) (**Figure 1**).

The leukocyte recruitment cascade described above is the generally held view of recruitment derived primarily from in vitro experiments or imaging experiments with easily accessible blood vessels. There is growing evidence that some organs do not use the same paradigm for neutrophil recruitment (84). For example, the liver does not use selectins for neutrophil recruitment and is fully dependent on hyaluronan on endothelium and CD44 on neutrophils for diapedesis (72).

Opsonization

Neutrophil phagocytosis is dependent on opsonization of the target microbe via either components of the complement system, immunoglobulins, or other innate immune components (**Figure 1**). Complement can rapidly recognize and opsonize bacteria or kill gram-negative bacteria directly by formation of the membrane attack complex (119). The human complement system consists of



Figure 1

Neutrophil extravasation to the site of infection and killing mechanisms. Recruitment of neutrophils begins with the activation of the endothelium, followed by rolling on the activated endothelium. Upon stimulation, neutrophils stop rolling and firmly adhere to the endothelium. This step is followed by neutrophil transmigration through the endothelium into the tissue, a process known as extravasation. In tissue, neutrophils are directed by a chemotactic gradient toward the invading staphylococci, followed by recognition and subsequent phagocytosis. Phagocytosis of *Staphylococcus aureus* is dependent on the deposition of complement and immunoglobulins, which are recognized by complement receptors (CRs) and Fc γ receptors (Fc γ Rs). Inside the neutrophil phagosome, bacteria are killed by antimicrobial proteins (AMPs) released upon granule fusion and by NADPH oxidase-derived reactive oxygen species (ROS). Alternatively, neutrophils undergo a process called NETosis, in which neutrophils expel their DNA. The DNA is decorated with histones and AMPs that extracellularly capture and kill bacteria.

more than 30 proteins and uses three independent pathways to distinguish bacteria from host cells (119). The alternative pathway is inhibited by receptors on host cells and target cells or by microbes that lack such markers. The lectin pathway recognizes distinct evolutionarily conserved structures such as polysaccharides on microbial surfaces (106). The classical pathway is initiated by antibody recognition of the microbial target and by binding of C1q to immune complexes. All three pathways converge at the formation of the C3 convertases, which are enzyme complexes that catalyze the key reaction in complement activation: cleavage of complement protein C3 into C3a and C3b (94, 99). Most of C3b is further processed into iC3b by factor H and factor I, whereas deposited C3b forms new convertases, thereby amplifying the opsonization process. Subsequently, high local concentrations of C3b induce a shift in substrate specificity of the convertase to complement protein C5. The cleavage products of C5 are C5a, a potent chemoattractant, and C5b, which initiates the lytic pathway when deposited on gram-negative bacteria. Together these complement-mediated events are responsible for the efficient detection and elimination of many different bacterial species (92).

Immunoglobulins help resolve bacterial infections via immobilization, agglutination, and opsonization, the last of which allows the recognition of immune complexes and their ingestion by phagocytes (71). Immunoglobulins activate the classical complement pathway and neutralize toxins or other bacterial virulence factors (119). Different subclasses of immunoglobulins display distinct differences in complement activation or Fc γ receptor (Fc γ R). For instance, IgM, owing to its polymeric nature, is particularly effective at complement activation and opsonization (123). The four IgG subclasses differ from each other with respect to their effector functions (71). This difference is related to differences in structure, notably with respect to the interactions between the variable, antigen-binding Fab fragments and the constant Fc fragment. In particular, the length and flexibility of the hinge region are different. This difference probably relates to the higher activity of IgG3 in triggering effector functions, when compared with the other subclasses (71). The capacity of the four human IgG subclasses (in monomeric form) to bind C1q decreases in the order IgG3 > IgG1 > IgG2 > IgG4, whereby IgG4 completely lacks the ability of complement activation. Effective triggering of the two major Fc γ Rs on human neutrophils (Fc γ RII and Fc γ RIII) is mediated by both IgG3 and IgG1, resulting in phagocytosis (111).

Chemotaxis, Priming, and Activation

After crossing the endothelial barrier, neutrophils are directed toward the site of infection by a plethora of chemoattractants and then primed and activated by a variety of inflammatory stimulants (Figure 1). The primary activating substances are those of microbial origin. For staphylococci, the substances are primarily ligands for Toll-like receptors (TLRs) or chemoattractant receptors of the G-protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) family (6). TLRs are perhaps the best-known microbe receptors; they are responsible for recognizing a number of evolutionarily conserved structures (54). TLR ligands relevant to staphylococcal infections include bacterial lipoproteins (TLR1, TLR2, TLR6) and bacterial CpG-rich DNA (TLR9) (54). TLRs are transmembrane glycoproteins and signal through an intracellular Toll/interleukin (IL)-1 receptor (TIR) domain. Ligand-induced dimerization of TLRs is believed to trigger recruitment of MyD88 to the intracellular TIR domains to initiate signaling via the transcription factor NF- κ B (49). Most TLRs form homodimers upon ligand binding. In contrast, TLR2 forms heterodimers with TLR1 (TLR1/2) and TLR6 (TLR2/6) to adequately respond to triacylated and diacylated lipoproteins, respectively (48). Gram-positive bacteria contain diacylated lipoproteins, whereas gram-negative bacteria lipoproteins may have an additional acyl group. Staphylococcal strains deficient in diacyl modification of lipoproteins fail to activate TLR2 in vivo, resulting in a reduced inflammatory response (20). Cells become activated and primed after TLR activation. TLRs assist in phagocytosis but these receptors are not involved in chemotaxis.

Neutrophils are attracted to the infection site through sensing of chemotactic factor gradients (12) (**Figure 1**). Chemoattractants are secreted by activated host cells or released as activated complement components. The chemoattractants activate phagocytes by binding to membrane-bound receptors that belong to the GPCR superfamily (12).

Newly synthesized bacterial proteins contain a formylated methionine, and as a consequence bacteria secrete a substantial amount of N-formylated proteins and peptides. fMLP, the prototype N-formyl-peptide, induces and potentiates chemotaxis, phagocytosis, and the generation of oxidative burst in neutrophils and monocytes (3). Formylated peptides act on the formyl peptide receptor (FPR1) and its homologue FPR2, both of which belong to the GPCR family. FPR1 binds fMLP with high affinity, whereas FPR2 shows low affinity for the ligand. Neutrophils express FPR1 and FPR2 but not FPR3, whereas monocytes express all three GPCRs (63). **TLR:** Toll-like receptor

GPCR:

G-protein-coupled receptor

FPR: formyl peptide receptor

PSM: phenol-soluble modulin

ROS: reactive oxygen species

Staphylococci produce phenol-soluble modulins (PSMs) in addition to formyl peptides. PSMs were first described as lytic molecules for neutrophils (120). PSMs not only lyse neutrophils but also activate and attract leukocytes via FPR2 (58).

Other potent chemoattractants include the small complement fragment C5a. C5a and its less potent counterpart C3a, also commonly called anaphylatoxins, are generated during the activation of the complement cascade. The formation of the small cleavage products C3a and C5a plays an important role in the attraction of phagocytes to the site of infection and in priming and activating phagocytes of gram-positive bacteria (76). In addition to bacterial fragments and complement-derived activation products, chemokines and other lipid mediators lead neutrophils to the site of infection (84).

Phagocytosis

S. aureus opsonized by complement and/or antibodies is rapidly phagocytosed upon contact with neutrophils (105). Opsonin-coated microorganisms bind to specific receptors on the phagocyte surface, and invagination of the cell membrane causes the intracellular phagosome to envelope the microorganism (56) (**Figure 1**). Uptake of the bacteria is aided by factors such as C5a; TLR ligands on the surface of the bacterium; and ligands for C-type lectin transmembrane proteins such as DC-SIGN, Dectin-1, and the mannose receptor on the surface of neutrophils (103). Moreover, phagocytosis is stimulated primarily by receptors that recognize the major opsonins, i.e., the complement factors and immunoglobulins (1).

Receptors for these opsonins, specifically the classical or leukocyte $Fc\gamma Rs$ and the complement receptors (CRs), are displayed on the neutrophil surface. Upon cross-linking by ligand binding, these receptors induce the initial uptake, or endocytosis of the pathogen, whereupon vesicular transport to lysosomes and intracellular killing are executed (1, 71, 95) (**Figure 1**).

Fc γ Rs are members of the immunoglobulin superfamily. They contain a ligand-binding chain consisting of two or three Ig-like domains, a transmembrane region, and an intracellular domain (97). Through binding of the constant domain of IgG, Fc γ Rs provide specificity to immune effector cells on which they are widely expressed. Cross-linking of Fc γ Rs by IgG-opsonized particles or immune complexes induces several cell-type-dependent effector functions, including phagocytosis, respiratory burst, cytotoxicity, degranulation, and secretion of inflammatory mediators (97). On the basis of structural and biochemical differences, Fc γ Rs are divided into three distinct classes, Fc γ RI (CD64), Fc γ RII (CD32), and Fc γ RIII (CD16), containing 12 isoforms that differ in cell distribution and affinity for IgG subclasses (79). Most Fc γ Rs are activating receptors and possess immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs. Fc γ RIIIb is inserted into the outer layer of the plasma membrane by a glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor and contains no signaling motif. Fc γ RII a is the predominant receptor in neutrophil phagocytosis of immune complexes (112).

CR1 (CD35) binds to the active complement fragment C3b, resulting in phagocytic uptake (95) (Figure 1). However, CR1 is also a complement regulator with factor H activity (95). CR3 (Mac-1, CD11b/CD18) and CR4 (p150/95, CD11c/CD18) are heterodimeric glycoproteins from the integrin family with a shared β -chain (CD18). They show specificity for the iC3b fragment and bind iC3b in a Mg²⁺-dependent fashion (108). Stimulation of neutrophils and monocytes via CR3 results in phagocytosis, production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), and release of specific granules (108). After phagocytosis and phagosome formation, neutrophils are equipped with multiple efficient mechanisms aimed to kill intracellular bacteria.

NET Formation

In addition to phagocytosis and intracellular killing, neutrophils evolved a recently discovered defense strategy whereby their nuclear contents are expelled together with several cytosolic and

granular proteins. This results in the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), which trap and thereby prevent further dissemination of the pathogens (19). Although some essential steps in the formation of NETs (NETosis) have been described (66), the mechanisms for their initiation, downstream activation pathways, and effector functions are still under investigation. In vitro activation of NETs can be initiated by different stimuli such as phorbol myristate acetate, lipopolysaccharide, IL-8, and different bacteria (85, 117). However, Yipp et al. (124), using intravital microscopy, show that in vivo neutrophil NETosis is tightly regulated through TLR2 and complement-mediated opsonization. NETs can trap microbes ex vivo and can be observed in animal models of *S. aureus* infection (73). In the bloodstream, the concentration of AMPs is too low to be effective in killing microbes; however, when associated with NETs, AMPs reach their critical antimicrobial concentrations (19).

Bacteria Killing by Means of Neutrophil Granules

Neutrophils are end-stage cells that store most of their toxic antimicrobial compounds in readyto-use granules (17), which are available during encounters with bacteria, are safe for storage, and support the dynamic interplay between microbes and the associated inflammatory and microbekilling responses of immune cells (3). Several enzymes target the bacterial cell wall (e.g., lysozyme). function as proteases to degrade bacterial toxins (e.g., neutrophil elastase), or assist in metabolic burst (myeloperoxidase, MPO, associated with phagocytosis) (56). A group of directly bactericidal and bacteriostatic proteins and peptides primarily attack the bacterial membrane [e.g., the bactericidal/permeability-increasing (BPI) protein] or interfere with the cell wall synthesis machinery (e.g., defensins) (28). Different granules fulfill different purposes in the complex dynamics involving neutrophil migration, phagocytosis, and killing. The membrane or secretory vesicles, which are located near the plasma membrane and are very rapidly secreted, serve as a reservoir for a number of important membrane-bound molecules and receptors employed during neutrophil migration and the early steps of opsonic recognition (17). Azurophilic granules contain many antimicrobial proteins such as MPO; BPI; lysozyme; defensins; and the serine proteases neutrophil elastase, proteinase 3, and cathepsin G. Secondary granules contain lactoferrin, NGAL, hCAP-18, and lysozyme. Tertiary granules contain a number of metalloproteases, including gelatinase (1, 17). Chelating agents interfere with microbial metabolism and are strongly bacteriostatic. Lactoferrin binds preferentially to iron, and calprotectin chelates zinc (26). However, calprotectin is not stored in granules. In neutrophils, as opposed to all other cells, calprotectin constitutes more than 60% of the proteins in the cytosol (26, 122).

Bacteria Killing by Reactive Oxygen Species

Neutrophil activation leads to the production of ROS, a process known as oxidative burst. ROS represent a complex and dynamic mixture of highly reactive molecules that differ in their stability in, reactivity to, and permeability through membranes, but all can severely damage microbes (42). In the small space between an ingested bacterium and the membrane of the phagosome, molecular oxygen is reduced and high levels of superoxide are generated upon assembly of the NADPH-dependent oxidase (3). Electrons are pumped into the phagosome, which is compensated for by an influx of protons or other cations. The protons are used to reduce superoxide to hydrogen peroxide (3). Hydrogen peroxide associates with chloride to form hypochlorous acid in a reaction catalyzed by MPO. Hydroxyl radical, chloramines, hydroperoxyl radical, peroxynitrite, and singlet oxygen, all very effective antimicrobial compounds, are generated in secondary reactions.

(56). Augmentation of the NADPH oxidase by MPO facilitates a most efficient response against invading microorganisms, and this property is unique for neutrophils (3).

SSL: staphylococcal superantigen-like

Taken together, neutrophils are highly efficient at finding, recognizing, phagocytosing, and destroying bacterial invaders such as *S. aureus*. Thus, bacteria that cannot defend themselves become passengers and targets for neutrophil responses that protect hosts from bacterial invaders. Below, we summarize the different ways in which *S. aureus* fights neutrophil attacks and explain how this pathogen addresses each of the discrete defense mechanisms implemented by neutrophils.

STAPHYLOCOCCAL NEUTROPHIL EVASION

Evading Extravasation

The first step of extravasation, neutrophil rolling on endothelial cells (**Figure 1**), is modulated by staphylococcal superantigen-like 5 (SSL5), which acts on P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1) (13). By binding PSGL-1, SSL5 blocks its interaction with the natural ligand P-selectin and abrogates neutrophil rolling on endothelial cells (13). SSL5 binding to PSGL-1 is glycan dependent. X-ray crystallography data revealed the structure of SSL5 in complex with sialyl Lewis X (4), the predominant carbohydrate decoration on PSGL-1. Further, SSL5 is also thought to scavenge chemokines from chemokine receptors by binding to other glycoproteins (13). All chemokines contain a highly homologous glucosaminoglycan (GAG)-binding site, which allows their presentation by endothelial cells or extracellular matrix. SSL5 targets the binding site, common among all chemokines, thereby inhibiting the activation of integrins that promote neutrophil attachment (14).

The second step in neutrophil extravasation, the firm adhesion of neutrophils to the endothelium, is also targeted by *S. aureus*. ICAM-1, the crucial molecule for this interaction, is bound and inhibited by extracellular adherence protein (Eap) (25), blocking also the final molecular adherence step in primary rolling and transmigration events in the bloodstream near the infection site. The function of these modulators is illustrated in **Figure 2***a*.

Evading Chemotaxis, Priming, and Activation

S. aureus secretes many proteins that affect chemokine signaling (**Figure 2b**). In addition to inhibiting PSGL-1, SSL5 inhibits chemokine-induced leukocyte activation in a different way. SSL5 inhibits leukocyte responses to chemokines CXC, CC, and CX3C and to the complement fragments C3a and C5a (12). SSL5 directly binds the N termini of chemokine receptors in a glycan-dependent manner. SSL5 also binds to the FPR1, the FPR2, the leukotriene B4 receptor, the platelet-activating factor receptor, and the nucleotide receptor P2Y2 (14). However, SSL5 does not appear to interfere with the activation of these receptors, as nonproteinaceous signals are sensed via the transmembrane domains of GPCRs. The nonprotein stimuli interact primarily with the transmembrane regions of their target GPCR. Chemokines bind the N terminus of their receptors and subsequently interact with the pocket formed by the transmembrane domains. Thus, SSL5 targets the glycosylated N termini of GPCRs and inhibits only stimuli that require the receptor N terminus for activation (14).

SSL10 inhibits cell responses mediated by the chemokine CXCL12 (or stromal cell-derived factor-1 α , SDF-1 α). When cells are treated with SSL10, calcium mobilization and chemotaxis, in response to CXCL12, are abrogated (118). CXCL12-induced intracellular signaling was also affected in cells pretreated with SSL10. SSL10 is thus specific for CXCR4-mediated responses, as it did not inhibit CXCL8- or C5a-induced calcium responses (118).

a Evading extravasation



b Neutrophil attack and evading activation



Figure 2

Evasion of neutrophil extravasation, activation, and neutrophil attack. (*a*) Mechanisms by which *Staphylococcus aureus* subverts neutrophil extravasation. (*b*) Neutrophil attack and evasion of activation. Red boxes represent an antagonizing protein of *S. aureus*, and green boxes represent a protease of *S. aureus*. Abbreviations: PSGL-1, P-selectin glycoprotein 1; SSL, staphylococcal superantigen-like protein; ICAM-1, intracellular adhesion molecule 1; EAP, extracellular adherence protein; TLR, Toll-like receptor; GPCR, G-protein-coupled receptor; C5aR, C5a receptor; CXCR, chemokine receptor; CHIPS, chemotaxis inhibitory protein of *Staphylococcus*; FPR, formyl protein receptor; FLIPr and FLIPr-L, FPR-like inhibitory proteins; PSMs, phenol-soluble modulins; ScpA, Staphopain A; LUK, leukocidin; Hlg, hemolysin-gamma; PVL, Panton-Valentine leukocidin.

Proteases also assist in chemokine signaling inhibition. Neutrophils treated with Staphopain A are unresponsive to activation by CXCR2 chemokines due to cleavage of their N-terminal domain (59). Moreover, Staphopain A inhibits neutrophil migration toward CXCR2 chemokines. By comparing a wild-type MRSA strain with an isogenic Staphopain A mutant, it was demonstrated that Staphopain A is the only secreted protease with activity toward CXCR2 (59). Secretion of Staphopain A at the site of infection is likely to inhibit neutrophil activation and recruitment, adding to the elaborate immune evasion repertoire of *S. aureus* (59).

CHIPS: chemotaxis inhibitory protein of *Staphylococcus*

FLIPr: FPR-like 1 inhibitory protein

CHIPS (chemotaxis inhibitory protein of *Staphylococcus*), a small protein of 14.1 kDa, binds and inhibits FPR1 as well as C5aR. CHIPS impairs neutrophil chemotaxis (40). The CHIPS-binding site on FPR1 involves multiple regions in the extracellular domains of the receptor. CHIPS probably binds near or directly at the fMLP-binding pocket, since fMLP is a small peptide that would otherwise easily bypass the blockade. The N terminus of CHIPS is important for its activity toward FPR1 (39).

CHIPS exerts its effect on C5aR through binding to amino acids 10 to 18 in the N terminus of this receptor (88). Deletion of the first 30 amino acids does not affect its C5aR-inhibiting activity, suggesting two different active sites. The 3D structure of the C5aR-blocking domain of CHIPS (CHIPS31-121) was revealed by X-ray crystallography (40). CHIPS31-121 is composed of an α -helix packed into a four-stranded antiparallel β -sheet. This domain is structurally homologous to the C-terminal domain of SSL proteins (2).

A search for *S. aureus* proteins homologous to CHIPS led to the identification of FPR-like 1 inhibitory proteins (FLIPr and FLIPr-like). As outlined above, formyl peptides provide a bacteria-specific broad signature that is sensed by formyl peptide receptors. *S. aureus* has evolved at least two antagonists for the FPRs. Both CHIPS and FLIPr-like inhibit FPR1 (86), thereby avoiding recognition via this unique recognition pathway. FLIPr and FLIPr-like also inhibit FPR2 and thus evade recognition of the PSMs that are secreted by staphylococci (58, 87).

Together these molecules inhibit the first chemoattractants from migrating toward the site of infection (59, 40, 88). Furthermore, cellular activation, important for cosignaling events during phagocytosis, is inhibited. FLIPr and FLIPr-like also impair responses to FPR2 agonists; they inhibit neutrophil calcium mobilization, actin polymerization, and/or chemotaxis to the synthetic peptides of endogenous proteins serum amyloid A, amyloid β 1, and prion protein. In *S. aureus* biofilms, PSMs form amyloid-like fibers (98). Although these fibers are different from monomeric PSM, it is tempting to speculate that FPR2 may be involved in amyloid recognition.

TLRs are crucial for host defense against microbial infections. TLR2 is especially important as it, together with TLR1 and TLR6, recognizes bacterial lipoproteins of both gram-positive and gram-negative origin. Present on a variety of immune cells, TLR2 is critical for host protection against *S. aureus*. SSL3 specifically binds and inhibits TLR2 activation on human and murine neutrophils and monocytes. Through binding of the extracellular TLR2 domain, SSL3 inhibits IL-8 production by HEK cells expressing TLR1/2 and TLR2/6 dimers, stimulated by their specific ligands. The SSL3-TLR2 interaction is partially glycan dependent (5, 125). This unique function of SSL3 adds to the arsenal of evasive molecules that *S. aureus* deploys to subvert both innate and adaptive immunity.

Evading Opsonization, Phagocytosis, and NET Formation

S. aureus has evolved an entire array of highly specific complement-modulating strategies as illustrated in **Figure 3**. The secreted factors described below allow bacteria to either diminish or delay the detrimental effects of an innate immune attack, thereby generating a window of opportunity to replicate and establish a microenvironment conducive to bacterial survival and disease pathogenesis.

The secreted metalloprotease aureolysin attacks the central molecule in the complement system, C3. It effectively inhibits phagocytosis and killing of bacteria by neutrophils. Strikingly, in contrast to other proteases, aureolysin is more active in serum than in isolated form. Aureolysin cleaves purified C3 specifically in the α -chain, close to the C3 convertase cleavage site (which differs by two amino acids), yielding active C3a' and C3b' (60). However, in serum the aureolysingenerated C3b is further degraded by factor H and factor I. Using an aureolysin mutant of *S. aureus*



Figure 3

Evasion of opsonization. Schematic representation of the molecular mechanisms of staphylococcal inhibition of opsonization and subsequent phagocytic uptake by neutrophils. Red boxes indicate an antagonizing protein, and green boxes indicate a staphylococcal protease. Tan circles and ovals indicate host complement proteins. Abbreviations: SBI, staphylococcal binder of IgG; SSL, staphylococcal superantigen-like protein; IgG, immunoglobulin G; SAK, staphylokinase; SCIN, staphylococcal complement inhibitor; ECB, extracellular complement-binding protein; EFB, extracellular fibrinogen-binding protein; ScpA, Staphopain A.

USA300, Laarman et al. (60) showed that aureolysin is essential and sufficient for C3 cleavage by bacterial supernatant. Aureolysin acts synergistically with host regulators to inactivate the central complement component C3, thereby dampening host immune responses (60).

The staphylococcal complement inhibitor (SCIN) is a 10-kDa excreted protein that blocks all complement pathways: the lectin, classical, and alternative pathways. SCIN (and SCIN-B and SCIN-C) efficiently blocks phagocytosis and killing of staphylococci via inhibition of C5a production (94). SCIN specifically acts on surface-bound C3 convertases, with two major consequences. First, SCIN stabilizes C3bBb at the surface of the bacterium. Second, binding of SCIN to C3bBb impairs the enzymatic activity of the convertases (91). The crystal structure of the C3 convertase formed by C3b, Bb, and SCIN was dimeric in nature. SCIN blocks the formation of a productive enzyme-substrate complex (36, 94). Formation of dimeric convertases by SCIN is important for *S. aureus* immune evasion because it modulates complement recognition by phagocytic receptors. Dimeric, but not monomeric, SCIN convertases showed impaired binding to CR1 and the complement receptor of the immunoglobulin superfamily. The dimerization site of SCIN is essential for its strong antiphagocytic properties (52).

The extracellular fibrinogen-binding (Efb) molecule is a 15.6-kDa excreted molecule that was initially described to associate with fibrinogen. Efb also binds the C3d region of C3 (64). Efb and extracellular complement-binding (Ecb) protein can modulate the alternative pathway convertase by directly binding to the C3b molecule (51). The crystal structures of both molecules in complex with the C3d domain of C3 revealed their exact binding sites (41). Compared with wild-type staphylococci, targeted inactivation of the genes encoding Ecb and Efb strongly attenuates *S. aureus* virulence in a murine infection model: Mice experienced significantly higher mortality rates upon intravenous infection with wild-type bacteria than with an isogenic Δ Ecb Δ Efb mutant. Ecb and Efb are also required for staphylococcal persistence in host tissues and abscess formation

SCIN: staphylococcal complement inhibitor

in the kidneys. In a pneumonia model, Ecb and Efb together promote bacterial survival and block neutrophil influx into the lungs. Thus, Ecb and Efb are essential to *S. aureus* virulence in vivo and could represent attractive targets for vaccine development (53).

Similar to other successful bacterial pathogens, *S. aureus* recruits the complement regulatory protein factor H to its surface to inhibit the alternative pathway of complement. Studies using recombinant SdrE revealed binding to factor H as well as factor I-mediated cleavage of C3b to iC3b (100).

SSL7 binds IgA and complement C5, thereby inhibiting IgA-Fc α RI binding and serum killing of *Escherichia coli* (61). Furthermore, SSL7 inhibits the generation of C5a induced by staphylococcal opsonization, which is slightly enhanced by its IgA-binding capacity. SSL7 has strong protective activity against staphylococcal clearance in human whole blood. SSL7 strongly inhibited the C5a-induced phagocytosis of *S. aureus* and oxidative burst in an in vitro whole-blood inflammation model (11). The crystal structure of the C5-SSL7 complex confirms that binding to C5 occurs exclusively through the C-terminal beta-grasp domain of SSL7, leaving the oligosaccharide-binding domain free to interact with IgA (62).

The first antiopsonic molecule of *S. aureus* to be described was staphylococcal protein A (SpA), which can bind the Fc part of IgG (33). SpA is linked to the cell wall of *S. aureus* via its sorting signal and sortase. SpA is released from the staphylococcal cell wall into the extracellular medium during growth. Through binding of IgG, SpA blocks FcR–mediated phagocytosis and is a highly efficient complement activation modulator by interfering with the binding of C1q (31). SpA was also described as a B cell superantigen, promoting B cell activation. Subsequent analysis revealed that surface SpA, similar to B cell receptor cross-linking with antihuman immunoglobulin, sensitizes B cells for the recognition of cell wall–associated TLR2-active lipopeptides (8). Immunization of mice with SpA, mutated in each of the five immunoglobulin-binding domains, raised antibodies that blocked the virulence of staphylococci, promoted opsonophagocytic clearance, and protected mice against challenge with highly virulent MRSA strains (55).

In addition to its properties as a CXCR4 antagonist, SSL10 binds IgG with consequences for FcR recognition and complement activation. The specific interaction between recombinant SSL10 and human IgG has been confirmed by far-Western blot analysis, pull-down analysis, and surface plasmon resonance, revealing a dissociation equilibrium constant of 220 nM (46).

Two staphylococcal proteins affect both immunoglobulin and complement. The staphylococcal IgG-binding molecule Sbi has two IgG-binding domains, similar to SpA (33). Sbi-III and Sbi-IV can also bind to C3, inhibiting activation (21). Furthermore, Sbi binds the human complement regulators factor H and factor H–related proteins and can form a stable tripartite complex with C3 and factor H (43). Together these actions result in inhibition of the alternative pathway (43).

Staphylokinase (SAK) recruits plasminogen to the staphylococcal surface and activates the zymogen to form active protease. Plasmin cleaves human IgG as well as human C3b and iC3b from the bacterial cell wall, leading to impaired phagocytosis by human neutrophils. Plasmin removes the entire Fc fragment, thereby inhibiting the activation of the classical pathway of complement and FcR recognition. Plasmin cleaves C3b in both α - and β -chains (93).

All the proteins described above influence opsonization and therefore phagocytic uptake. NET formation is also inhibited by a secreted staphylococcal nuclease. The isogenic nuclease-deficient *S. aureus* mutant was impaired in its ability to degrade NETs in vitro. Also, the mutant strain was more susceptible to extracellular killing by activated neutrophils. Moreover, *S. aureus* nuclease production was associated with delayed bacterial clearance in the lung and increased mortality after intranasal infection. Therefore, it is likely that the *S. aureus* nuclease promotes resistance against NET-mediated antimicrobial activity of neutrophils and contributes to disease pathogenesis in vivo (10).

Evading Killing

S. aureus strains shield themselves against ROS via their golden pigment, staphyloxanthin, which functions as an antioxidant and provides resistance to killing by peroxide and singlet oxygen (67). In agreement with this model, a staphyloxanthin mutant, unlike wild-type staphylococci, cannot survive within neutrophils. When the oxidative burst of neutrophils is inhibited with DPI (diphenyleneiodonium), the difference in survival between wild-type and staphyloxanthin mutant staphylococci is lost (67). Thus, staphyloxanthin at least partly blocks the ROS activities of neutrophils.

In addition to staphyloxanthin, several staphylococcal enzymes contribute to resistance against ROS. The main enzyme in the staphylococcal cytoplasm for removing oxidative stress is catalase (70). Catalase removes hydrogen peroxide by converting the compound to oxygen and water, thereby protecting the phagocytosed staphylococci. *S. aureus* further harbors the alkyl hydroper-oxide reductase gene (*ahpC*), which encodes for an enzyme with catalase activity. Recently, yet another protein, SOK (surface factor promoting resistance to oxidative killing), was described that also confers resistance to neutrophil killing. SOK is exposed at the extracellular surface. A SOK mutant has an increased sensitivity to singlet oxygen. In an in vitro phagocytosis model the wild type is more resistant to killing by neutrophils compared with the SOK mutant strain (69). Importantly, catalase activity provided by either KatA or AhpC is required for normal growth under aerobic conditions (27), and as such its additional effects on immune evasion after phagocytosis can be an added value, if not the main target of these enzymes.

Lysozyme degrades the cell wall peptidoglycan matrix by breaking the β -1,4 glycosidic bonds between *N*-acetylmuramic acid (MurNAc) and *N*-acetylglucosamine (GlucNAc), causing lysis of the bacteria (96). However, *S. aureus* is insensitive to lysozyme. The *O*-acetyltransferase A (OatA) enzyme of *S. aureus* causes O-acetylation of the peptidoglycan, and therefore the muramidase activity of lysozyme is no longer capable of degrading its peptidoglycan (9, 44).

S. aureus has at least two independent mechanisms to resist the attack of defensins that disrupt the integrity of the bacterial cell wall. First, the cell membrane itself is modified. The underlying mechanism for this resistance is a modification of phosphatidylglycerol with L-lysine. This modification leads to a reduced negative charge of the membrane surface, likely repelling the cationic peptides. An *mprF* mutant strain killed considerably faster by human neutrophils exhibited attenuated virulence in mice (81, 82). Second, S. aureus secretes staphylokinase, which activates host plasminogen. Direct binding between α -defensins and staphylokinase nearly inhibits the bactericidal effect of α -defensins. Staphylokinase with a blocked plasminogen-binding site still retained its ability to neutralize the bactericidal effect of α -defensins (50). Carotenoid pigments play a role in resistance against cationic AMPs. An increase in carotenoid rigidifies the cell membrane, making it less susceptible to the AMPs (74).

A metalloprotease secreted by *S. aureus*, aureolysin, is capable of cleaving LL-37, one of the few AMPs with potent activity against staphylococci (101). Finally, *S. aureus* resistance against AMPs is mediated by positive-charge modifications of the cell wall through the incorporation of cell wall teichoic acids and lipoteichoic acids (121). An overview of these protective factors is provided in **Figure 4**.

Neutrophil Attack

By secreting cytolytic toxins, *S. aureus* protects itself against killing by the host immune system both before and after engulfment by neutrophils, as shown in **Figure 2***b*. β -Barrel pore-forming toxins target the cell membrane and induce leakage and ultimately lysis of eukaryotic cells. The



Figure 4

Evasion of neutrophil killing. Schematic representation of the mechanisms utilized by *Staphylococcus aureus* to avoid killing inside neutrophils or by neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). Staphyloxanthin provides an antioxidant shield, and catalase detoxifies hydrogen peroxide. Resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) is mediated by positive-charge modifications of the cell wall, aureolysin-mediated proteolysis, and binding/inactivation by staphylokinase (SAK). Induction of the stringent response and the quorum-sensing mechanism *agr* leads to intraphagosomal phenol-soluble modulin (PSM) and hemolysin-alpha (Hla) production and thereby disruption of the phagosomal membranes. Staphylococcal DNase can cleave the DNA backbone of NETs. Red boxes indicate an antagonizing protein, and green boxes indicate a staphylococcal protease. Abbreviations: *agr*, accessory gene regulator; MprF, multiple peptide resistance factor.

hemolysin-alpha, also known as α -toxin, is secreted as a monomer and associates as a homomultimeric pore in the membrane of the host target cells (15). Although hemolysin-alpha is not cytotoxic to neutrophils, it lyses other immune cells such as macrophages, lymphocytic subpopulations, and erythrocytes (110). Hemolysin-alpha was recently reported to bind and upregulate the epithelial zinc-dependent metalloprotease ADAM-10 (45).

The bicomponent β -barrel pore-forming leukocidins comprise two subunits that are independently secreted as monomers and form heteromultimeric pores in the membrane of the host target cells (47). Currently, five leukocidins of *S. aureus* have been described: Panton-Valentine leukocidin (PVL), hemolysin-gamma (Hlg), leukocidin E/D (LukED), leukocidin G/H (LukGH), and leukocidin M/F-like (LukMF). The *blg* and *lukED* genes are present in the chromosome of 99% of all *S. aureus* isolates, whereas the genes encoding PVL are located on bacterial prophages and are found in only 2% of all isolates; however, the majority of community-acquired MRSA isolates carry the genes encoding PVL (77). Further investigations revealed a clear species specificity of PVL cytotoxicity, in which mice and macaque neutrophils were resistant, whereas human and rabbit neutrophils were susceptible. The species specificity of these bicomponent toxins is determined most likely by the interaction with host GPCRs, as demonstrated for LukED (35) and PVL (102). By targeting GPCRs, *S. aureus* has a highly selective tool to attack phagocytes before it is engulfed.

The recently discovered potent cytolytic peptides, PSMs, have a common amphipathic α -helical region, which is thought to enable their ability to lyse cells most likely by disrupting the cell membrane. Despite having a common structure, PSMs are categorized in two groups depending on their size. The shorter α -type PSMs (20–30 amino acids long) are more toxic than the β -type PSMs (approximately 44 amino acids long). In vivo infection and inflammation models showed a pronounced role for α -type PSMs in staphylococcal pathogenesis (120).

Escape from Neutrophils

Multiple lines of evidence accumulated in recent years have demonstrated that S. aureus can survive within host cells and use host cells as vehicles for its dissemination from the site of infection (107). In particular, community-acquired MRSA strains have an enhanced capacity to lyse neutrophils after phagocytosis, leading to increased bacterial survival (57). The concentration of AIP, responsible for gene transcription activation of the staphylococcal quorum-sensing mechanism agr, can reach critical activating levels within cells. This allows the agr system to function within neutrophils (23), resulting in upregulation of PSMs and in cellular lysis. In line with these studies, the stringent response, characterized by the rapid synthesis of (p)ppGpp as messenger of environmental stress conditions, seems to precede the quorum-sensing mechanism (37). Both systems are crucial for upregulating PSMs intracellularly and mediating the lysis of neutrophils after phagocytosis and subsequent escape of S. *aureus* (37). This finding is further supported by the notion that PSMs are rapidly inactivated by serum lipoproteins, suggesting that these molecules are unlikely to function in extracellular environments (104, 105). However, the importance of single virulence factors contributing to intracellular survival seems to be dependent on the type of host cell and bacterial strains analyzed. For example, in the strain USA300 LAC, LukGH may have a role in intracellular lysis (32, 114). Furthermore, δ -toxin, β -toxin, and β -PSMs have important roles in staphylococcal escape from phagoendosomes of human epithelial and endothelial cells (38).

CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

Worldwide, *S. aureus* has been and still is a prominent cause of bacterial infections in humans (31, 68). Over the past few decades, *S. aureus* has become highly effective at acquiring resistance to antibiotics (24). The emergence of hospital-acquired and community-acquired MRSA has now become a global problem (29). Besides antibiotic resistance, enhanced virulence of community-acquired MRSA strains seems to explain the successful spread and increased incidence of infections (80, 89). The large number of infections takes a toll on public health systems, causing significant financial burden (68). Owing to the acquisition of resistance, many inexpensive, nontoxic, and previously highly effective antibiotic agents are expected to be released in the near future (29), the outlook for this current public health threat is grim. A promising staphylococcal vaccine recently failed in clinical trials, and no new vaccine candidates are expected in the short term (34). To overcome the impasse described above, new approaches are urgently needed. One alternative approach is to gain a better understanding of the host-pathogen interaction and to target the host and pathogen factors involved.

As described in the nineteenth century by Sir Alexander Ogston, the neutrophil is a central player in the interaction between host and *S. aureus* (78). Over the last decade, multiple mechanisms by which *S. aureus* successfully counteracts attack by neutrophils were described. The first mechanism, discussed in this review, is the potential of *S. aureus* to counteract the host response at nearly all levels, allowing it to employ its armament depending on local infection dynamics.

The extensive number of strategies stresses the importance of neutrophil escape in staphylococcal pathophysiology. The second mechanism is the specificity for human targets of most molecular mechanisms utilized by *S. aureus*. CHIPS, SCIN, SAK, many leukocidins, including PVL, and most of the SSLs are human specific in their mechanism of action. The specificity can be explained by high-affinity protein-protein interactions not consistently compatible with other species. This extensiveness, together with the human specificity of the strategies *S. aureus* evolved to overcome neutrophil attack, offers challenges for the near future. By focusing on the interaction of one molecule with its compatible host counterpart, the contribution of other relevant but noncompatible molecules is prone to neglect. An ideal model for staphylococcal disease, other than the human model, probably does not exist. Results obtained from experimental models for infection, most notably in rodents, should therefore be interpreted with caution.

The need for new treatment options, both preventative and curative, is high. A better understanding of the critical tug of war between *S. aureus* and the neutrophil might offer leads for the development of new drugs and vaccines.

SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. Neutrophils are crucial for host defense against infections with S. aureus.
- 2. Neutrophils are well equipped to destroy staphylococci, both intra- and extracellularly.
- 3. Neutrophil recruitment, chemotaxis, priming, and activation are all multistep processes.
- 4. S. aureus targets the neutrophil-mediated host defense at all levels.
- 5. Most of the strategies employed by S. aureus show clear human specificity.
- 6. High-affinity protein-protein interactions often cause human specificity.
- 7. The extensive repertoire of staphylococcal evasion mechanisms reflects their importance in pathophysiology.
- 8. The interaction between *S. aureus* and its human host hinders comprehensive studies in experimental models for disease.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Part of this work was performed under the Immuno Valley Alternatives for Antibiotics program funded by the Netherlands Ministry of Economic Affairs, Agriculture, and Innovation, and the Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research (NWO). The authors thank Drs. Suzan Rooijakkers, Kok van Kessel, and Carla de Haas for inspiring discussions.

LITERATURE CITED

Amulic B, Cazalet C, Hayes GL, Metzler KD, Zychlinsky A. 2012. Neutrophil function: from mechanisms to disease. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 30:459–89

- Arcus VL, Langley R, Proft T, Fraser JD, Baker EN. 2002. The three-dimensional structure of a superantigen-like protein, SET3, from a pathogenicity island of the S. aureus genome. J. Biol. Chem. 277:32274–81
- 3. Babior BM. 1999. NADPH oxidase: an update. Blood 93:1464-76
- Baker HM, Basu I, Chung MC, Caradoc-Davies T, Fraser JD, Baker EN. 2007. Crystal structures of the staphylococcal toxin SSL5 in complex with sialyl Lewis X reveal a conserved binding site that shares common features with viral and bacterial sialic acid binding proteins. *J. Mol. Biol.* 374:1298–308
- 5. Bardoel BW, Vos R, Bouman T, Aerts PC, Bestebroer J, et al. 2012. Evasion of Toll-like receptor 2 activation by staphylococcal superantigen-like protein 3. *J. Mol. Med.* 90:1109–20
- Bardoel BW, Strijp JA. 2011. Molecular battle between host and bacterium: recognition in innate immunity. *J. Mol. Recognit.* 24:1077–86
- Barrett FF, McGehee RF Jr, Finland M. 1968. Methicillin-resistant S. aureus at Boston City Hospital. Bacteriologic and epidemiologic observations. N. Engl. J. Med. 279:441–48
- Bekeredjian-Ding I, Inamura S, Giese T, Moll H, Endres S, et al. 2007. S. aureus protein A triggers T cell-independent B cell proliferation by sensitizing B cells for TLR2 ligands. J. Immunol. 178:2803–12
- Bera A, Herbert S, Jakob A, Vollmer W, Gotz F. 2005. Why are pathogenic staphylococci so lysozyme resistant? The peptidoglycan O-acetyltransferase OatA is the major determinant for lysozyme resistance of S. aureus. Mol. Microbiol. 55:778–87
- Berends ET, Horswill AR, Haste NM, Monestier M, Nizet V, von Kockritz-Blickwede M. 2010. Nuclease expression by S. aureus facilitates escape from neutrophil extracellular traps. J. Innate Immun. 2:576–86
- 11. Bestebroer J, Aerts PC, Rooijakkers SH, Pandey MK, Kohl J, et al. 2010. Functional basis for complement evasion by staphylococcal superantigen-like 7. *Cell Microbiol.* 12:1506–16
- Bestebroer J, De Haas CJ, Van Strijp JA. 2010. How microorganisms avoid phagocyte attraction. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 34:395–414
- Bestebroer J, Poppelier MJ, Ulfman LH, Lenting PJ, Denis CV, et al. 2007. Staphylococcal superantigenlike 5 binds PSGL-1 and inhibits P-selectin-mediated neutrophil rolling. *Blood* 109:2936–43
- Bestebroer J, van Kessel KP, Azouagh H, Walenkamp AM, Boer IG, et al. 2009. Staphylococcal SSL5 inhibits leukocyte activation by chemokines and anaphylatoxins. *Blood* 113:328–37
- 15. Bhakdi S, Tranum-Jensen J. 1991. Alpha-toxin of S. aureus. Microbiol. Rev. 55:733-51
- 16. Bogomolski-Yahalom V, Matzner Y. 1995. Disorders of neutrophil function. Blood Rev. 9:183-90
- 17. Borregaard N, Cowland JB. 1997. Granules of the human neutrophilic polymorphonuclear leukocyte. *Blood* 89:3503–21
- 18. Boxer LA, Morganroth ML. 1987. Neutrophil function disorders. Dis. Mon. 33:681-780
- 19. Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, et al. 2004. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. *Science* 303:1532–35
- 20. Bubeck Wardenburg J, Williams WA, Missiakas D. 2006. Host defenses against S. aureus infection require recognition of bacterial lipoproteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 103:13831–36
- Burman JD, Leung E, Atkins KL, O'Seaghdha MN, Lango L, et al. 2008. Interaction of human complement with Sbi, a staphylococcal immunoglobulin-binding protein: indications of a novel mechanism of complement evasion by *S. aureus. J. Biol. Chem.* 283:17579–93
- 22. Campbell JJ, Hedrick J, Zlotnik A, Siani MA, Thompson DA, Butcher EC. 1998. Chemokines and the arrest of lymphocytes rolling under flow conditions. *Science* 279:381–84
- Carnes EC, Lopez DM, Donegan NP, Cheung A, Gresham H, et al. 2010. Confinement-induced quorum sensing of individual S. aureus bacteria. Nat. Chem. Biol. 6:41–45
- Chambers HF, DeLeo FR. 2009. Waves of resistance: Staphylococcus aureus in the antibiotic era. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 7:629–41
- Chavakis T, Hussain M, Kanse SM, Peters G, Bretzel RG, et al. 2002. S. aureus extracellular adherence protein serves as anti-inflammatory factor by inhibiting the recruitment of host leukocytes. Nat. Med. 8:687–93
- Corbin BD, Seeley EH, Raab A, Feldmann J, Miller MR, et al. 2008. Metal chelation and inhibition of bacterial growth in tissue abscesses. *Science* 319:962–65

- Cosgrove K, Coutts G, Jonsson I-M, Tarkowski A, Kokai-Kun JF, et al. 2007. Catalase (KatA) and alkyl hydroperoxide reductase (AhpC) have compensatory roles in peroxide stress resistance and are required for survival, persistence, and nasal colonization in *S. aureus. J. Bacteriol.* 189:1025–35
- de Leeuw E, Li C, Zeng P, Diepeveen-de Buin M, Lu WY, et al. 2010. Functional interaction of human neutrophil peptide-1 with the cell wall precursor lipid II. FEBS Lett. 584:1543–48
- Deleo FR, Otto M, Kreiswirth BN, Chambers HF. 2010. Community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. Lancet 375:1557–68
- Diamond MS, Staunton DE, de Fougerolles AR, Stacker SA, Garcia-Aguilar J, et al. 1990. ICAM-1 (CD54): a counter-receptor for Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18). *J. Cell Biol.* 111:3129–39
- 31. Diekema DJ, Pfaller MA, Schmitz FJ, Smayevsky J, Bell J, et al. 2001. Survey of infections due to *Staphylococcus* species: frequency of occurrence and antimicrobial susceptibility of isolates collected in the United States, Canada, Latin America, Europe, and the Western Pacific region for the SENTRY Antimicrobial Surveillance Program, 1997–1999. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 32:S114–S32
- Dumont AL, Yoong P, Surewaard BG, Benson MA, Nijland R, et al. 2013. Staphylococcus aureus elaborates leukocidin AB to mediate escape from within human neutrophils. Infect. Immun. 81(5):1830–41
- Forsgren A, Nordstrom K. 1974. Protein A from *Staphylococcus aureus*: the biological significance of its reaction with IgG. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 236:252–66
- Fowler VG, Allen KB, Moreira ED, Moustafa M, Isgro F, et al. 2013. Effect of an investigational vaccine for preventing *Staphylococcus aureus* infections after cardiothoracic surgery: a randomized trial. *JAMA* 309:1368–78
- Francis A III, Lina K, Stephen AR, Tamara R-R, Ashley LD, et al. 2012. CCR5 is a receptor for Staphylococcus aureus leukotoxin ED. Nature 493:51–55
- Garcia BL, Summers BJ, Ramyar KX, Tzekou A, Lin Z, et al. 2013. A structurally dynamic N-terminal helix is a key functional determinant in staphylococcal complement inhibitor (SCIN) proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288(4):2870–81
- Geiger T, Francois P, Liebeke M, Fraunholz M, Goerke C, et al. 2012. The stringent response of *S. aureus* and its impact on survival after phagocytosis through the induction of intracellular PSMs expression. *PLoS Pathog.* 8:e1003016
- Giese B, Glowinski F, Paprotka K, Dittmann S, Steiner T, et al. 2011. Expression of δ-toxin by S. aureus mediates escape from phago-endosomes of human epithelial and endothelial cells in the presence of β-toxin. Cell. Microbiol. 13:316–29
- Haas PJ, de Haas CJ, Kleibeuker W, Poppelier MJ, van Kessel KP, et al. 2004. N-terminal residues of the chemotaxis inhibitory protein of *S. aureus* are essential for blocking formylated peptide receptor but not C5a receptor. *J. Immunol.* 173:5704–11
- Haas PJ, de Haas CJ, Poppelier MJ, van Kessel KP, van Strijp JA, et al. 2005. The structure of the C5a receptor-blocking domain of chemotaxis inhibitory protein of *S. aureus* is related to a group of immune evasive molecules. *J. Mol. Biol.* 353:859–72
- Hammel M, Sfyroera G, Ricklin D, Magotti P, Lambris JD, Geisbrecht BV. 2007. A structural basis for complement inhibition by S. aureus. Nat. Immunol. 8:430–37
- Hampton MB, Kettle AJ, Winterbourn CC. 1998. Inside the neutrophil phagosome: oxidants, myeloperoxidase, and bacterial killing. *Blood* 92:3007–17
- 43. Haupt K, Reuter M, van den Elsen J, Burman J, Hälbich S, et al. 2008. The S. aureus protein Sbi acts as a complement inhibitor and forms a tripartite complex with host complement factor H and C3b. PLoS Pathog. 4:e1000250
- Herbert S, Bera A, Nerz C, Kraus D, Peschel A, et al. 2007. Molecular basis of resistance to muramidase and cationic antimicrobial peptide activity of lysozyme in staphylococci. *PLoS Pathog.* 3:e102
- Inoshima I, Inoshima N, Wilke GA, Powers ME, Frank KM, et al. 2011. A S. aureus pore-forming toxin subverts the activity of ADAM10 to cause lethal infection in mice. Nat. Med. 17:1310–14
- 46. Itoh S, Hamada E, Kamoshida G, Yokoyama R, Takii T, et al. 2010. Staphylococcal superantigen-like protein 10 (SSL10) binds to human immunoglobulin G (IgG) and inhibits complement activation via the classical pathway. *Mol. Immunol.* 47:932–38
- Jayasinghe L, Bayley H. 2005. The leukocidin pore: evidence for an octamer with four LukF subunits and four LukS subunits alternating around a central axis. *Protein Sci.* 14:2550–61

- Jin MS, Kim SE, Heo JY, Lee ME, Kim HM, et al. 2007. Crystal structure of the TLR1-TLR2 heterodimer induced by binding of a tri-acylated lipopeptide. *Cell* 130:1071–82
- Jin MS, Lee JO. 2008. Structures of the Toll-like receptor family and its ligand complexes. *Immunity* 29:182–91
- Jin T, Bokarewa M, Foster T, Mitchell J, Higgins J, Tarkowski A. 2004. S. aureus resists human defensins by production of staphylokinase, a novel bacterial evasion mechanism. J. Immunol. 172:1169–76
- Jongerius I, Garcia BL, Geisbrecht BV, van Strijp JA, Rooijakkers SH. 2010. Convertase inhibitory properties of staphylococcal extracellular complement-binding protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285:14973–79
- Jongerius I, Puister M, Wu J, Ruyken M, van Strijp JA, Rooijakkers SH. 2010. Staphylococcal complement inhibitor modulates phagocyte responses by dimerization of convertases. *J. Immunol.* 184:420–25
- Jongerius I, von Kockritz-Blickwede M, Horsburgh MJ, Ruyken M, Nizet V, Rooijakkers SH. 2012. S. aureus virulence is enhanced by secreted factors that block innate immune defenses. J. Innate Immun. 4:301–11
- Kawai T, Akira S. 2010. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Tolllike receptors. *Nat. Immunol.* 11:373–84
- Kim HK, Cheng AG, Kim HY, Missiakas DM, Schneewind O. 2010. Nontoxigenic protein A vaccine for methicillin-resistant S. aureus infections in mice. J. Exp. Med. 207:1863–70
- 56. Klebanoff SJ. 2005. Myeloperoxidase: friend and foe. J. Leukocyte Biol. 77:598-625
- Kobayashi SD, Braughton KR, Palazzolo-Ballance AM, Kennedy AD, Sampaio E, et al. 2010. Rapid neutrophil destruction following phagocytosis of S. aureus. J. Innate Immun. 2:560–75
- Kretschmer D, Gleske AK, Rautenberg M, Wang R, Koberle M, et al. 2010. Human formyl peptide receptor 2 senses highly pathogenic S. aureus. Cell Host Microbe 7:463–73
- Laarman AJ, Mijnheer G, Mootz JM, van Rooijen WJ, Ruyken M, et al. 2012. S. aureus Staphopain A inhibits CXCR2-dependent neutrophil activation and chemotaxis. EMBO J. 31:3607–19
- Laarman AJ, Ruyken M, Malone CL, van Strijp JA, Horswill AR, Rooijakkers SH. 2011. S. aureus metalloprotease aureolysin cleaves complement C3 to mediate immune evasion. J. Immunol. 186:6445– 53
- Langley R, Wines B, Willoughby N, Basu I, Proft T, Fraser JD. 2005. The staphylococcal superantigenlike protein 7 binds IgA and complement C5 and inhibits IgA-Fc alpha RI binding and serum killing of bacteria. *J. Immunol.* 174:2926–33
- 62. Laursen NS, Gordon N, Hermans S, Lorenz N, Jackson N, et al. 2010. Structural basis for inhibition of complement C5 by the SSL7 protein from *S. aureus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 107:3681–86
- Le Y, Oppenheim JJ, Wang JM. 2001. Pleiotropic roles of formyl peptide receptors. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 12:91–105
- 64. Lee LY, Hook M, Haviland D, Wetsel RA, Yonter EO, et al. 2004. Inhibition of complement activation by a secreted *S. aureus* protein. *J. Infect. Dis.* 190:571–79
- Ley K, Laudanna C, Cybulsky MI, Nourshargh S. 2007. Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 7:678–89
- Li P, Li M, Lindberg MR, Kennett MJ, Xiong N, Wang Y. 2010. PAD4 is essential for antibacterial innate immunity mediated by neutrophil extracellular traps. *J. Exp. Med.* 207:1853–62
- 67. Liu GY, Essex A, Buchanan JT, Datta V, Hoffman HM, et al. 2005. *S. aureus* golden pigment impairs neutrophil killing and promotes virulence through its antioxidant activity. *J. Exp. Med.* 202:209–15
- 68. Lowy FD. 1998. S. aureus infections. N. Engl. J. Med. 339:520-32
- Malachowa N, Kohler PL, Schlievert PM, Chuang ON, Dunny GM, et al. 2011. Characterization of a S. aureus surface virulence factor that promotes resistance to oxidative killing and infectious endocarditis. Infect. Immun. 79:342–52
- Mandell GL. 1975. Catalase, superoxide dismutase, and virulence of *Staphylococcus aureus*. In vitro and in vivo studies with emphasis on staphylococcal–leukocyte interaction. *J. Clin. Invest.* 55:561–66
- Mantovani B. 1975. Different roles of IgG and complement receptors in phagocytosis by polymorphonuclear leukocytes. *J. Immunol.* 115:15–17
- McDonald B, McAvoy EF, Lam F, Gill V, de la Motte C, et al. 2008. Interaction of CD44 and hyaluronan is the dominant mechanism for neutrophil sequestration in inflamed liver sinusoids. *J. Exp. Med.* 205:915– 27

- McDonald B, Urrutia R, Yipp BG, Jenne CN, Kubes P. 2012. Intravascular neutrophil extracellular traps capture bacteria from the bloodstream during sepsis. *Cell Host Microbe* 12:324–33
- Mishra NN, Liu GY, Yeaman MR, Nast CC, Proctor RA, et al. 2011. Carotenoid-related alteration of cell membrane fluidity impacts *S. aureus* susceptibility to host defense peptides. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*. 55:526–31
- Moore KL, Patel KD, Bruehl RE, Fugang L, Johnson DA, et al. 1995. P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 mediates rolling of human neutrophils on P-selectin. J. Cell Biol. 128:661–71
- Mullaly SC, Kubes P. 2006. The role of TLR2 in vivo following challenge with S. aureus and prototypic ligands. J. Immunol. 177:8154–63
- Naimi TS, LeDell KH, Como-Sabetti K, Borchardt SM, Boxrud DJ, et al. 2003. Comparison of community- and health care-associated methicillin-resistant S. aureus infection. JAMA 290:2976–84
- 78. Newsom SWB. 2008. Ogston's coccus. J. Hosp. Infect. 70:369–72
- 79. Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. 2011. FcyRs in health and disease. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 350:105-25
- Otto M. 2010. Basis of virulence in community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 64:143–62
- Peschel A, Jack RW, Otto M, Collins LV, Staubitz P, et al. 2001. S. aureus resistance to human defensins and evasion of neutrophil killing via the novel virulence factor MprF is based on modification of membrane lipids with L-lysine. J. Exp. Med. 193:1067–76
- Peschel A, Otto M, Jack RW, Kalbacher H, Jung G, Götz F. 1999. Inactivation of the *dlt* operon in S. *aureus* confers sensitivity to defensins, protegrins, and other antimicrobial peptides. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274:8405–10
- Phillipson M, Heit B, Colarusso P, Liu L, Ballantyne CM, Kubes P. 2006. Intraluminal crawling of neutrophils to emigration sites: a molecularly distinct process from adhesion in the recruitment cascade. *J. Exp. Med.* 203:2569–75
- 84. Phillipson M, Kubes P. 2011. The neutrophil in vascular inflammation. Nat. Med. 17:1381-90
- Pilsczek FH, Salina D, Poon KK, Fahey C, Yipp BG, et al. 2010. A novel mechanism of rapid nuclear neutrophil extracellular trap formation in response to S. aureus. J. Immunol. 185:7413–25
- Prat C, Bestebroer J, de Haas CJ, van Strijp JA, van Kessel KP. 2006. A new staphylococcal antiinflammatory protein that antagonizes the formyl peptide receptor-like 1. *J. Immunol.* 177:8017–26
- Prat C, Haas PJ, Bestebroer J, de Haas CJ, van Strijp JA, van Kessel KP. 2009. A homolog of formyl peptide receptor-like 1 (FPRL1) inhibitor from *Staphylococcus aureus* (FPRL1 inhibitory protein) that inhibits FPRL1 and FPR. *J. Immunol.* 183:6569–78
- Postma B, Kleibeuker W, Poppelier MJ, Boonstra M, Van Kessel KP, et al. 2005. Residues 10–18 within the C5a receptor N terminus compose a binding domain for chemotaxis inhibitory protein of *S. aureus*. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280:2020–27
- Purcell K, Fergie J. 2005. Epidemic of community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infections: a 14-year study at Driscoll Children's Hospital. Arch. Pediatr. Adolesc. Med. 159:980–85
- Rigby KM, DeLeo FR. 2012. Neutrophils in innate host defense against Staphylococcus aureus infections. Semin. Immunopathol. 34:237–59
- Rooijakkers SH, Ruyken M, Roos A, Daha MR, Presanis JS, et al. 2005. Immune evasion by a staphylococcal complement inhibitor that acts on C3 convertases. *Nat. Immunol.* 6:920–27
- 92. Rooijakkers SH, van Strijp JA. 2007. Bacterial complement evasion. Mol. Immunol. 44:23-32
- Rooijakkers SH, van Wamel WJ, Ruyken M, van Kessel KP, van Strijp JA. 2005. Anti-opsonic properties of staphylokinase. *Microbes Infect*. 7:476–84
- Rooijakkers SH, Wu J, Ruyken M, van Domselaar R, Planken KL, et al. 2009. Structural and functional implications of the alternative complement pathway C3 convertase stabilized by a staphylococcal inhibitor. *Nat. Immunol.* 10:721–27
- Ross GD, Jarowski CI, Rabellino EM, Winchester RJ. 1978. The sequential appearance of Ia-like antigens and two different complement receptors during the maturation of human neutrophils. *J. Exp. Med.* 147:730–44
- Schindler M, Assaf Y, Sharon N, Chipman DM. 1977. Mechanism of lysozyme catalysis: role of groundstate strain in subsite D in hen egg-white and human lysozymes. *Biochemistry* 16:423–31

- Schwab I, Nimmerjahn F. 2013. Intravenous immunoglobulin therapy: How does IgG modulate the immune system? *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 13:176–89
- Schwartz K, Syed AK, Stephenson RE, Rickard AH, Boles BR. 2012. Functional amyloids composed of phenol soluble modulins stabilize S. aureus biofilms. PLoS Pathog. 8:e1002744
- Serruto D, Rappuoli R, Scarselli M, Gros P, van Strijp JA. 2010. Molecular mechanisms of complement evasion: learning from staphylococci and meningococci. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 8:393–99
- Sharp JA, Echague CG, Hair PS, Ward MD, Nyalwidhe JO, et al. 2012. S. aureus surface protein SdrE binds complement regulator factor H as an immune evasion tactic. PLoS One 7:e38407
- 101. Sieprawska-Lupa M, Mydel P, Krawczyk K, Wojcik K, Puklo M, et al. 2004. Degradation of human antimicrobial peptide LL-37 by S. aureus-derived proteinases. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 48:4673–79
- 102. Spaan AN, Henry T, van Rooijen WJ, Perret M, Badiou C, et al. 2013. The staphylococcal toxin pantonvalentine leukocidin targets human C5a receptors. *Cell Host Microbe*. 13:584–94
- 103. Stuart LM, Ezekowitz RA. 2005. Phagocytosis: elegant complexity. Immunity 22:539-50
- 104. Surewaard BG, Nijland R, Spaan AN, Kruijtzer JA, de Haas CJ, van Strijp JA. 2012. Inactivation of staphylococcal phenol soluble modulins by serum lipoprotein particles. *PLoS Pathog.* 8:e1002606
- 105. Surewaard BGJ, de Haas CJC, Vervoort F, Rigby KM, DeLeo FR, et al. 2013. Staphylococcal α-phenol soluble modulins contribute to neutrophil lysis after phagocytosis. *Cell. Microbiol.* doi:10.111/ cmi.12130
- Thiel S. 2007. Complement activating soluble pattern recognition molecules with collagen-like regions, mannan-binding lectin, ficolins and associated proteins. *Mol. Immunol.* 44:3875–88
- Thwaites GE, Gant V. 2011. Are bloodstream leukocytes Trojan Horses for the metastasis of S. aureus? Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 9:215–22
- 108. Todd RF 3rd. 1996. The continuing saga of complement receptor type 3 (CR3). J. Clin. Invest. 98:1-2
- Udo EE, Pearman JW, Grubb WB. 1993. Genetic analysis of community isolates of methicillin-resistant S. aureus in Western Australia. J. Hosp. Infect. 25:97–108
- 110. Valeva A, Walev I, Pinkernell M, Walker B, Bayley H, et al. 1997. Transmembrane β-barrel of staphylococcal α-toxin forms in sensitive but not in resistant cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94:11607–11
- van de Winkel JG, Capel PJ. 1993. Human IgG Fc receptor heterogeneity: molecular aspects and clinical implications. *Immunol. Today* 14:215–21
- 112. van Sorge NM, van der Pol WL, van de Winkel JG. 2003. FcγR polymorphisms: implications for function, disease susceptibility and immunotherapy. *Tissue Antigens* 61:189–202
- 113. Vandenesch F, Naimi T, Enright MC, Lina G, Nimmo GR, et al. 2003. Community-acquired methicillin-resistant S. aureus carrying Panton-Valentine leukocidin genes: worldwide emergence. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 9:978–84
- 114. Ventura CL, Malachowa N, Hammer CH, Nardone GA, Robinson MA, et al. 2010. Identification of a novel *S. aureus* two-component leukotoxin using cell surface proteomics. *PLoS One* 5:e11634
- 115. Vestweber D. 2007. Adhesion and signaling molecules controlling the transmigration of leukocytes through endothelium. *Immunol. Rev.* 218:178–96
- 116. von Eiff C, Becker K, Machka K, Stammer H, Peters G. 2001. Nasal carriage as a source of *S. aureus* bacteremia. Study group. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 344:11–16
- von Kockritz-Blickwede M, Nizet V. 2009. Innate immunity turned inside-out: antimicrobial defense by phagocyte extracellular traps. J. Mol. Med. 87:775–83
- Walenkamp AM, Boer IG, Bestebroer J, Rozeveld D, Timmer-Bosscha H, et al. 2009. Staphylococcal superantigen-like 10 inhibits CXCL12-induced human tumor cell migration. *Neoplasia* 11:333–44
- 119. Walport MJ. 2001. Complement. Second of two parts. N. Engl. J. Med. 344:1140-44
- Wang R, Braughton KR, Kretschmer D, Bach TH, Queck SY, et al. 2007. Identification of novel cytolytic peptides as key virulence determinants for community-associated MRSA. *Nat. Med.* 13:1510–14
- Weidenmaier C, Peschel A. 2008. Teichoic acids and related cell-wall glycopolymers in gram-positive physiology and host interactions. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 6:276–87
- Weinberg ED. 1975. Nutritional immunity: Host's attempt to withhold iron from microbial invaders. JAMA 231:39–41

- 123. Wellek B, Hahn H, Opferkuch W. 1976. Opsonizing activities of IgG, IgM antibodies and the C3b inactivator-cleaved third component of complement in macrophage phagocytosis. *Agents Actions* 6:260–62
- Yipp BG, Petri B, Salina D, Jenne CN, Scott BN, et al. 2012. Infection-induced NETosis is a dynamic process involving neutrophil multitasking in vivo. *Nat. Med.* 18:1386–93
- 125. Yokoyama R, Itoh S, Kamoshida G, Takii T, Fujii S, et al. 2012. Staphylococcal superantigen-like protein 3 binds to Toll like receptor 2 extracellular domain and inhibits cytokine production induced by S. aureus, cell wall component or lipopeptides in murine macrophages. Infect. Immun. 80:2816–25

Annual Review of Microbiology

Volume 67, 2013

Contents

Fifty Years Fused to Lac Jonathan Beckwith
3' Cap-Independent Translation Enhancers of Plant Viruses Anne E. Simon and W. Allen Miller
Acyl-Homoserine Lactone Quorum Sensing: From Evolution to ApplicationMartin Schuster, D. Joseph Sexton, Stephen P. Diggle, and E. Peter Greenberg43
Mechanisms of Acid Resistance in <i>Escherichia coli</i> Usheer Kanjee and Walid A. Houry
The Biology of the PmrA/PmrB Two-Component System: The Major Regulator of Lipopolysaccharide Modifications H. Deborah Chen and Eduardo A. Groisman
Transcription Regulation at the Core: Similarities Among Bacterial, Archaeal, and Eukaryotic RNA Polymerases <i>Kimberly B. Decker and Deborah M. Hinton</i>
Bacterial Responses to Reactive Chlorine Species Michael J. Gray, Wei-Yun Wholey, and Ursula Jakob
It Takes a Village: Ecological and Fitness Impacts of Multipartite Mutualism <i>Elizabeth A. Hussa and Heidi Goodrich-Blair</i>
Electrophysiology of Bacteria Anne H. Delcour
Microbial Contributions to Phosphorus Cycling in Eutrophic Lakes and Wastewater <i>Katherine D. McMahon and Emily K. Read</i>
Structure and Operation of Bacterial Tripartite Pumps Philip Hinchliffe, Martyn F. Symmons, Colin Hughes, and Vassilis Koronakis
Plasmodium Nesting: Remaking the Erythrocyte from the Inside Out Justin A. Boddey and Alan F. Cowman 243

The Algal Past and Parasite Present of the Apicoplast Giel G. van Dooren and Boris Striepen 271
Hypoxia and Gene Expression in Eukaryotic Microbes Geraldine Butler 291
Wall Teichoic Acids of Gram-Positive Bacteria Stephanie Brown, John P. Santa Maria Jr., and Suzanne Walker
Archaeal Biofilms: The Great Unexplored Alvaro Orell, Sabrina Fröls, and Sonja-Verena Albers
An Inquiry into the Molecular Basis of HSV Latency and Reactivation Bernard Roizman and Richard J. Whitley
Molecular Bacteria-Fungi Interactions: Effects on Environment, Food, and Medicine <i>Kirstin Scherlach, Katharina Graupner, and Christian Hertweck</i>
Fusarium Pathogenomics Li-Jun Ma, David M. Geiser, Robert H. Proctor, Alejandro P. Rooney, Kerry O'Donnell, Frances Trail, Donald M. Gardiner, John M. Manners, and Kemal Kazan 399
Biological Consequences and Advantages of AsymmetricBacterial GrowthDavid T. Kysela, Pamela J.B. Brown, Kerwyn Casey Huang, and Yves V. Brun 417
Archaea in Biogeochemical Cycles Pierre Offre, Anja Spang, and Christa Schleper
 Experimental Approaches for Defining Functional Roles of Microbes in the Human Gut <i>Gautam Dantas, Morten O.A. Sommer, Patrick H. Degnan,</i> <i>and Andrew L. Goodman</i>
Plant Cell Wall Deconstruction by Ascomycete Fungi N. Louise Glass, Monika Schmoll, Jamie H.D. Cate, and Samuel Coradetti
Cnidarian-Microbe Interactions and the Origin of Innate Immunity in Metazoans <i>Thomas C.G. Bosch</i>
On the Biological Success of Viruses Brian R. Wasik and Paul E. Turner
Prions and the Potential Transmissibility of Protein Misfolding Diseases Allison Kraus, Bradley R. Groveman, and Byron Caughey

The Wonderful World of Archaeal Viruses David Prangishvili	565
Tip Growth in Filamentous Fungi: A Road Trip to the Apex Meritxell Riquelme	587
A Paradigm for Endosymbiotic Life: Cell Differentiation of <i>Rhizobium</i> Bacteria Provoked by Host Plant Factors <i>Eva Kondorosi, Peter Mergaert, and Attila Kereszt</i>	611
Neutrophils Versus Staphylococcus aureus: A Biological Tug of War András N. Spaan, Bas G.J. Surewaard, Reindert Nijland, and Jos A.G. van Strijp	629

Index

Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors,	Volumes 63–67	651
---	---------------	-----

Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Microbiology* articles may be found at http://micro.annualreviews.org/



ANNUAL REVIEWS

It's about time. Your time. It's time well spent.

Now Available from Annual Reviews:

Annual Review of Virology

virology.annualreviews.org • Volume 1 • September 2014

Editor: Lynn W. Enguist, Princeton University

The Annual Review of Virology captures and communicates exciting advances in our understanding of viruses of animals, plants, bacteria, archaea, fungi, and protozoa. Reviews highlight new ideas and directions in basic virology, viral disease mechanisms, virus-host interactions, and cellular and immune responses to virus infection, and reinforce the position of viruses as uniquely powerful probes of cellular function.

Complimentary online access to the first volume will be available until September 2015.

Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 2013.67:629-650. Downloaded from www. Access provided by Universidade de Sao Paulo (USP) on 08/25/15. I TABLE OF CONTENTS:

- · Forty Years with Emerging Viruses, C.J. Peters
- · Inventing Viruses, William C. Summers
- PHIRE and TWiV: Experiences in Bringing Virology to New Audiences, Graham F. Hatfull, Vincent Racaniello
- Viruses and the Microbiota, Christopher M. Robinson, Julie K. Pfeiffer
- Role of the Vector in Arbovirus Transmission, Michael J. Conway, Tonya M. Colpitts, Erol Fikrig
- Balance and Stealth: The Role of Noncoding RNAs in the Regulation of Virus Gene Expression, Jennifer E. Cox, Christopher S. Sullivan
- Thinking Outside the Triangle: Replication Fidelity of the Largest RNA Viruses, Everett Clinton Smith, Nicole R. Sexton, Mark R. Denison
- The Placenta as a Barrier to Viral Infections, Elizabeth Delorme-Axford, Yoel Sadovsky, Carolyn B. Coyne
- Cytoplasmic RNA Granules and Viral Infection, Wei-Chih Tsai, Richard E. Llovd
- · Mechanisms of Virus Membrane Fusion Proteins, Margaret Kielian
- Oncolytic Poxviruses, Winnie M. Chan, Grant McFadden
- Herpesvirus Genome Integration into Telomeric Repeats of Host Cell Chromosomes, Nikolaus Osterrieder, Nina Wallaschek, Benedikt B. Kaufer
- Viral Manipulation of Plant Host Membranes, Jean-François Laliberté, Huanguan Zheng
- IFITM-Family Proteins: The Cell's First Line of Antiviral Defense, Charles C. Bailey, Guocai Zhong, I-Chueh Huang, Michael Farzan
- Glycan Engagement by Viruses: Receptor Switches and Specificity. Luisa J. Ströh, Thilo Stehle
- Remarkable Mechanisms in Microbes to Resist Phage Infections, Ron L. Dy, Corinna Richter, George P.C. Salmond, Peter C. Fineran

- · Polydnaviruses: Nature's Genetic Engineers, Michael R. Strand, Gaelen R. Burke
- Human Cytomegalovirus: Coordinating Cellular Stress, Signaling, and Metabolic Pathways, Thomas Shenk, James C. Alwine
- Vaccine Development as a Means to Control Dengue Virus Pathogenesis: Do We Know Enough? Theodore C. Pierson, Michael S. Diamond
- Archaeal Viruses: Diversity, Replication, and Structure, Nikki Dellas, Jamie C. Snyder, Benjamin Bolduc, Mark J. Young
- AAV-Mediated Gene Therapy for Research and Therapeutic Purposes. R. Jude Samulski, Nicholas Muzyczka
- Three-Dimensional Imaging of Viral Infections, Cristina Risco, Isabel Fernández de Castro, Laura Sanz-Sánchez, Kedar Narayan, Giovanna Grandinetti, Sriram Subramaniam
- New Methods in Tissue Engineering: Improved Models for Viral Infection, Vyas Ramanan, Margaret A. Scull, Timothy P. Sheahan, Charles M. Rice, Sangeeta N. Bhatia
- · Live Cell Imaging of Retroviral Entry, Amy E. Hulme, Thomas J. Hope
- Parvoviruses: Small Does Not Mean Simple, Susan F. Cotmore, Peter Tattersall
- Naked Viruses That Aren't Always Naked: Quasi-Enveloped Agents of Acute Hepatitis, Zongdi Feng, Asuka Hirai-Yuki, Kevin L. McKnight, Stanley M. Lemon
- In Vitro Assembly of Retroviruses, Di L. Bush, Volker M. Vogt
- The Impact of Mass Spectrometry–Based Proteomics on Fundamental Discoveries in Virology, Todd M. Greco, Benjamin A. Diner, Ileana M. Cristea
- Viruses and the DNA Damage Response: Activation and Antagonism, Micah A. Luftig

ANNUAL REVIEWS | Connect With Our Experts

Tel: 800.523.8635 (us/can) | Tel: 650.493.4400 | Fax: 650.424.0910 | Email: service@annualreviews.org